Filed 06-24-2024

Page 1 of 34

FILED 06-24-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN C O U R T O F A P P E A L S DISTRICT II Case No. 2024AP000617

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

CARTER A. NELSON,

Defendant-Respondent.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

On Appeal from a Final Order of the Waukesha County Circuit Court, Case No. 2023CM1452, The Honorable Dennis Moroney, Presiding

> ALEXIS WERTHMANN State Bar No. 1133716

515 West Moreland Boulevard # G72 Waukesha, WI 53188 (262) 548-7076 alexis.werthmann@da.wi.gov

Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did Nelson have standing to make a Fourth Amendment claim?

Circuit Court Answer: Yes

2. If one Fourth Amendment warrant requirement exception does not apply, does that invalidate a search of a vehicle?

Circuit Court Answer: Yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests neither oral argument nor publication. The briefs in this matter can fully present and meet the issues on appeal and fully develop the theories and legal authorities on the issues. *See* Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.22(1)(b). Further, as a matter to be decided by one judge, this decision will not be eligible for publication. *See* Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.23(1)(b)4.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court's decision on a motion to suppress evidence presents a mixed question of fact and law. *State v. Casarez*, 2008 WI App 166, ¶ 9, 314 Wis. 2d 661, 762 N.W.2d 385. The reviewing court will uphold the trial court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.*; Wis. Stat. § 805.17(2) (made applicable to criminal proceedings by Wis. Stat. § 972.11(1)). We review an order granting or denying a motion to suppress evidence as a question of constitutional fact, which requires a two-step analysis. *State v. Asboth*, 2017 WI 76, ¶ 10, 376 Wis. 2d 644, 654, 898 N.W.2d 541, 545 (citing *State v. Matalonis*, 2016 WI 7, ¶ 28, 366 Wis.2d 443, 875 N.W.2d 567). "First, we review the circuit court's findings of historical fact under a deferential standard, upholding them unless they are clearly erroneous. Second, we independently apply constitutional principles to those facts." *Id.* (quoting State v. Robinson, 2010 WI 80, ¶ 22, 327 Wis.2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463). Where the trial court does not make specific findings, it is necessary for this court to independently review the record. *Turner v. State,* 76 Wis. 2d 1, 18-19, 250 N.W.2d 706 (1977). The trial court's application of constitutional principles is reviewed de novo. *Casarez,* 314 Wis. 2d 661, ¶ 9.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 20th, 2023, at approximately 11:35 PM, Officer Goritz was on routine patrol in the City of New Berlin. (R2). The New Berlin Police Department had been notified by the West Allis Police Department that they were in a highspeed pursuit of a stolen vehicle that was possibly heading towards New Berlin. (R16). Officer Goritz was heading towards the West Allis city border to prepare to assist when he observed a car traveling in the opposite direction swerve to avoid a 2003 silver Ford Explorer, which was stopped in the middle of the road. (R16). Officer Goritz immediately identified the SUV as a traffic safety hazard as the SUV was parked in lane two on an angle, abandoned. (R16).

Given the information Officer Goritz had received from the West Allis Police Department regarding the high-speed pursuit, he was wary of the reason for the vehicle being parked there and was unsure whether it had anything to do with the high-speed pursuit. (R16). Officer Goritz approached the vehicle and observed there were no occupants inside of the vehicle and no lights, including hazard lights, were activated. (R16). From his outside vantage point, Officer Goritz was able to observe loose .223 Winchester rifle rounds scattered throughout the vehicle and it appeared cold to the touch. (R16). Officer Goritz later testified that through the window, he was also able to observe a glass vial in the cupholder of the center console containing a substance he believed, based on his training and experience, to be cocaine. (R16). Given his concerns regarding the high-speed pursuit in West Allis, Officer Goritz requested additional officers to respond to the location. (R16). The officers found the vehicle to be unlocked and looked inside the vehicle for the keys or information about the identity or location of the driver of the vehicle. (R16). A Department of Transportation search of the vehicle found it to be registered to the defendant/appellee, Carter Nelson. (R16). Officers attempted multiple different ways to call or locate Nelson but were unable to get in contact with him that night. (R16). Officer Goritz testified that he was on the scene for almost 2 hours and Nelson never returned to retrieve his vehicle. (R16). As a result of nobody returning to the scene to remove the vehicle, it had to be towed from the scene to ensure the safe flow of traffic. (R16).

Officers seized the vial found in the cupholder and the substance within the vial later tested positive for cocaine. (R16). The State of Wisconsin then charged Nelson with Possession of Cocaine contrary to Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(c). (R2). Nelson then filed a Motion to Suppress for Lack of Probable cause, arguing the cocaine evidence seized from the subject vehicle was found during an illegal search of his vehicle in violation of his Fourth Amendment right against warrantless searches and seizures because Officer Goritz did not have a warrant at the time he searched Nelson's vehicle. (R10) The State of Wisconsin filed a letter brief in response. (R14)

A hearing was held on Nelson's Motion to Suppress For Lack of Probable Cause on January 8, 2024. At that hearing, Officer Goritz testified that, although he was able to see the vial of cocaine from outside of the vehicle, the vial was not the basis for the search. (R16:28, 21). He testified that the main concerns of the officers was to ensure other motorists did not strike the abandoned car, to get the vehicle moved out of the way of traffic, and to ensure the safety of any nearby civilians and the officers. (R16). Officer Goritz further testified that he ultimately towed the car because he believed it was a safety issue and impeded the flow of traffic. (R16:28, 21).

After hearing the testimony of Officer Goritz and the legal arguments made by the parties, the circuit court granted Nelson's Motion to Suppress for Lack of Probable Cause. (R18:40). The State subsequently filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the circuit court's January 8th ruling. (R19). A hearing was held on the State's Motion for Reconsideration on February 5th, 2024. After hearing further legal arguments by the parties, the circuit court upheld its prior ruling granting Nelson's Motion to Suppress the Evidence for Lack of Probable Cause. (R19).

This appeal follows.

Additional relevant facts will be set forth, below.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN SUPPRESSING THE EVIDENCE AS THE DEFENDANT DOES NOT HAVE STANDING AND MULTIPLE FOURTH AMENDMENT WARRANT REQUIREMENT EXCEPTIONS APPLY

a. The defendant does not have standing to claim a violation of the Fourth Amendment warrant requirement

Both the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions provide express protections against unreasonable searches and seizures conducted by the government. U.S. Const. amend IV.; Wis. Const. art. 1, §11. However, these protections are not absolute. As a threshold question, courts must first determine whether a "search" or "seizure" has occurred such that the actions of law enforcement implicate the Fourth Amendment. *See Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 88 S. Ct. 507, 19 L. Ed. 2d 576 (1967).

To have a Fourth Amendment claim, the proponent must initially satisfy two requirements. *Boyd v. United States*, 116 U.S. 616, 630, 6 S.Ct. 524, 29 L.Ed. 746 (1886). The Fourth Amendment protects citizens from government intrusion. *Id.* First, the search must have been done by a government agent. *Id.* Given that Officer Goritz, a government agent as a law enforcement officer, conducted the search, Nelson has satisfied this requirement.

Second, an individual must have standing. Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 130 n. 1, 99 S.Ct. 421, 58 L.Ed.2d 387 (1978). Standing exists when an individual has a reasonable expectation of privacy. Id. at 144, 99 S.Ct. 421. The proponent of a Fourth Amendment claim bears the burden of proving that he or she had a reasonable expectation of privacy. State v. Whitrock, 161 Wis.2d 960, 972, 468 N.W.2d 696 (1991) (citing Rawlings, 448 U.S. at 104, 100 S.Ct. 2556). To determine whether a reasonable privacy interest exists, the Supreme Court adopted the two-prong test laid out in Justice Harlan's concurrence in Katz v. United States: (1) the person must exhibit an actual (i.e. subjective) expectation of privacy in the area searched and the item seized, and (2) the expectation must be justifiable in that society is prepared to recognize it as reasonable. Katz, 389 U.S. 357, 361; State v. Bruski, 2007 WI 25, ¶ 21, 299 Wis. 2d 177, 186, 727 N.W.2d 503, 508.

In considering whether an individual's expectation of privacy constitutes a legitimate or justifiable one, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has stated that the following factors may be relevant:

> (1) whether the accused had a property interest in the premises; (2) whether the accused is legitimately (lawfully) on the premises; (3) whether the accused had complete dominion and control and the

right to exclude others; (4) whether the accused took precautions customarily taken by those seeking privacy; (5) whether the property was put to some private use; and (6) whether the claim of privacy is consistent with historical notions of privacy.

Id. (citing *Smith v. Maryland*, 442 U.S. 735, 740, 99 S.Ct. 2577, 61 L.Ed.2d 220 (1979); *Dixon*, 177 Wis.2d at 468, 501 N.W.2d 442. Fat 469, 501 N.W.2d 44)).

Nelson clearly did not establish a reasonable expectation of privacy in this instance. While he did have a property interest in the vehicle as its owner, the vehicle was illegally parked on the street in violation of the City of New Berlin ordinance. Nelson failed to have complete dominion and control over the vehicle since he was nowhere near the vehicle at the time that the Officer Goritz first observed the vehicle. He also did not take the customary precaution of those seeking privacy by locking the vehicle. All the behavior by Nelson surrounding the handling of his vehicle on June 20, 2023, was not consistent with historical notions of privacy. Those seeking privacy regarding their belongings typically take steps towards establishing privacy from others. It would be illogical to say that someone who leaves their unlocked vehicle in the middle of a public street is seeking privacy from the intrusion of others and is inconsistent with historical notions of privacy.

Further, a person cannot have a reasonable expectation of privacy in an item after they have abandoned it. *See State v. Roberts*, 196 Wis. 2d 445, 453, 538 N.W.2d 825, 828 (Ct. App. 1995) (citing *Abel v. United States*, 362 U.S. 217, 241, 80 S.Ct. 683, 698, 4 L.Ed.2d 668 (1960) "In the fourth amendment context, the test for abandonment of property is distinct from the property law notion of abandonment; it is possible for a person to retain a property interest in an item but nonetheless to relinquish his or her reasonable expectation of privacy in the object. *United States v. Thomas*, 864 F.2d 843, 845

Page 13 of 34

(D.C.Cir.1989). Abandonment is an ultimate fact or conclusion based generally on a combination of act and intent. *Friedman v. United States*, 347 F2d 697 (8th Cir. 1965).

In *State v. Rem*, the court determined that a suitcase left on an Amtrak public luggage rack had been abandoned. Rem was traveling on an Amtrak train with a suitcase. *United States v. Rem*, 984 F.2d 806, 811 (7th Cir. 1993). Instead, of checking the suitcase he chose to place it on a public luggage rack without any identification markings. Rem then abruptly left the train without it. Rem's failure to pick up the luggage along with several other factors indicated to the court that he had abandoned the luggage and, therefore, he retained no legitimate expectation of a privacy interest in it. *Id*.

Here, like in State v. Rem, Nelson did not have an expectation of privacy in the vehicle when he left it parked in the middle of a public road, unlocked, and did not return to retrieve it for over two hours. The court in Rem determined that Rem could not have a legitimate expectation of privacy in the suitcase and so, the Fourth Amendment protection against warrantless search and seizure could not apply because it would be unreasonable for someone to expect a right to privacy in property that has been abandoned in a public place. It is unlikely that society would be willing to recognize such an expectation of privacy as reasonable or justifiable as it would preclude law enforcement officers' ability to intervene in a suspicious or dangerous situation. Such a situation is exemplified in this case before the court. A reasonable person who had abandoned their vehicle in the manner that Nelson did would reasonably expect the vehicle to be checked by law enforcement and moved out of the way of other cars.

It was readily apparent that Nelson's vehicle was abandoned. Officer Goritz testified that based on his observations of the vehicle, he immediately thought the vehicle was abandoned. Q: I heard you say "abandoned property." Why do you think the car was abandoned?

A: So it's on -- In the City of New Berlin, you can't park on any street unless you have law enforcement permission. And the way that it was parked, it was parked in lane two, so there's no shoulder on National until you get west of Calhoun Road.

Q: And did this vehicle have permission to park there?

A: It did not.

Q: I heard you also state the car was cold. What did that mean to you?

A: That it's been sitting there a while, and he made no attempt to contact us, dispatch, or anyone. And really, particularly if someone was in an emergency and needed to leave their vehicle there, they normally leave their hazard lights on.

Q: How long in total were you at this location?

A: We were on the call for over an hour and 15 minutes. And I was there for probably two and a half hours because I sat there to make sure he didn't show up on foot again.

Q: Did he ever show up again?

A: He did not.

(R18:15-16).

Further, the circuit court even said directly in their ruling that the subject vehicle was obviously abandoned and that there was a question regarding Nelson's expectation of privacy.

> Court: First of all, I do believe that there is a question of reasonable expectation of privacy. I mean, obviously the car was abandoned or so it appeared at least. It's parked in some cockamamy angle on the side of a roadway where there's no parking allowed.

(R18:37,10-13).

This reasoning by the circuit court indicates that the Nelson not have a reasonable privacy interest in the abandoned vehicle.

Given that a reasonable expectation of privacy is a necessary element to bring a Fourth Amendment claim, the circuit court erred in finding that Nelson had standing to assert a Fourth Amendment violation after finding that the vehicle was abandoned.

II. IT IS NOT NECESSARY TO PROVE THAT THE "PLAIN VIEW" DOCTRINE APPLIES TO ESTABLISH A LAWFUL SEARCH OF THE DEFENDANT'S VEHICLE BECAUSE MULTIPLE OTHER WARRANT REQUIREMENT EXCEPTIONS EXIST

"A seizure conducted without a valid warrant is presumptively unreasonable." *State v. Asboth*, 2017 WI 76, 376 Wis. 2d 644, 655, 898 N.W.2d 541, 545–46 (citing *State v. Brereton*, 2013 WI 17, ¶ 24, 345 Wis.2d 563, 826 N.W.2d 369). The proponent of a warrantless seizure must therefore overcome this presumption. A seizure deprives an individual of "dominion over his or her person or property," *Horton v. California*, 496 U.S. 128, 133, 110 S.Ct. 2301, 110 L.Ed.2d 112 (1990), whereas a search occurs "when an expectation of privacy that society is prepared to consider reasonable is infringed." *United States v. Jacobsen*, 466 U.S. 109, 113, 104 S.Ct. 1652, 80 L.Ed.2d 85 (1984).

The question is, not whether the search was authorized by state law, but because the ultimate touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is "reasonableness," the question is rather whether the search was reasonable under the Fourth Amendment. *Dakota v. Opperman*, 428 U.S. 364, 372, 96 S. Ct. 3092, 3099, 49 L. Ed. 2d 1000 (1976); *Asboth*, 2017 WI 76. The Fourth Amendment warrant requirement is thus subject to certain exceptions for reasonable searches. *See Asboth*, 2017 WI 76.

In the context of warrantless seizures involving automobiles, there exists a strong governmental interest, recognized under the Fourth Amendment, to ferret out crime and conduct necessary investigations before the vehicle and its occupants may be "spirited away." Brereton, 2013 WI 17, ¶ 28 (citing Florida v. White, 526 U.S. 559, 565, 119 S.Ct. 1555, 143 L.Ed.2d 748 (1999)). Law enforcement also has a "substantial" interest in "minimizing the risk of harm" to officers or occupants of a vehicle. Brereton, 2013 WI 17, ¶ 28. In addition, other "substantial" governmental interests may justify warrantless seizures. See Brereton, 2013 WI 17, ¶ 28 (citing United States v. Place, 462 U.S. 696, 103 S. Ct. 2637, 77 L. Ed. 2d 110 (1983). These interests are further significant when the object to be seized is a vehicle located in a public place. Brereton, 2013 WI 17, ¶ 28 (citing White, 526 U.S. at 565-66, 119 S.Ct. 1555).

An automobile may be searched without warrant if there is probable cause to search the vehicle, and the vehicle is readily mobile. *State v. Sherry*, 2004 WI App 207, 277 Wis. 2d 194; *State v. Marquardt*, 2001 WI App 219, 247 Wis. 2d 765. A probable cause finding requires an assessment of "whether,

Filed 06-24-2024

under the totality of the circumstances, given all the facts and circumstances ... there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place." *State v. Sutton*, 338 Wis. 2d 338, 346 (Ct. App. 2011).

Here, there is no dispute that the defendant's vehicle was readily mobile, Officer Goritz was lawfully on the public street, and that he could see through the windows of the vehicle.

A. The circuit court erred in requiring the elements of the plain view warrant exception to be met

Officer Goritz used the term "plain view" in his incident report causing Nelson's defense attorney to cite to the "plain view" doctrine as a reason to suppress the evidence. The circuit court then granted the motion to suppress the evidence because the search of Nelson's vehicle did not meet the necessary elements of the "plain view" exception to the Fourth Amendment warrant requirement. However, it is not necessary to establish that the vial was in "plain view" to determine that the search of Nelson's vehicle was lawful given the multiple other warrant requirement exceptions apply.

The rationale behind the plain view doctrine is that if an article is already in plain view, neither its observation nor its seizure would involve any invasion of privacy. *Horton v. California*, 496 U.S. 128, 133–34, 110 S. Ct. 2301, 2306, 110 L. Ed. 2d 112 (1990) (citing *Arizona v. Hicks*, 480 U.S. 321, 325, 107 S.Ct. 1149, 1152, 94 L.Ed.2d 347 (1987). Under *Horton*, for the plain view doctrine to apply "the evidence must be in plain view, the officer must have a lawful right of access to the object itself, and the object's incriminating character must be immediately apparent." *Horton*, 496 U.S. at 136–37. To show that the incriminating character of the item was "immediately apparent," police are required to prove they had probable cause to believe the item in plain view was evidence or contraband and the probable cause determination is a subjective standard made by the officer. *Id*.

Officer Goritz wrote in his report that he was able to see the vial of cocaine from outside of the vehicle "in plain view" and, based on his training and experience, it was immediately apparent to him that the vial was cocaine. However, Officer Goritz also testified on the stand multiple times that his observation of the vial of cocaine was not the reason for his search of the vehicle.

Q: Again, your main concern was originally for searching the vehicle was not the cocaine, correct?A: Yes.Q: What was?A: It was someone trying to ambush myself or my partners.

(R18:26-27).

As such, it is not the plain view exception, but the community caretaker function exception to the Fourth Amendment warrant requirement that applies.

B. A warrant was not required because Officer Goritz was acting within in his community caretaker function when he searched and moved the vehicle

Law enforcement officers may conduct a warrantless seizure without violating the Fourth Amendment when performing community caretaker functions. *See State v. Kramer*, 2009 WI 14, ¶¶ 19-20, 315 Wis.2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598. This exception is broadly recognized by the Wisconsin Supreme Court when considering law enforcement officers' interests while "serving as a community caretaker to protect persons and property." *Asboth*, 2017 WI 76 (citing *State v. Pinkard*, 2010 WI 81, ¶ 14, 327 Wis.2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592). The community caretaker exception to the warrant requirement

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