Filed 08-26-2024

FILED 08-26-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2024AP000617-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

CARTER A. NELSON,

Defendant-Respondent.

On Appeal from an Order Suppressing Evidence Entered in the Waukesha County Circuit Court, the Honorable Dennis Moroney, Presiding.

BRIEF OF

DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

BRETT L. MCKELLAR Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1112894

Office of the State Public Defender Appellate Division 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 McKellarb@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The circuit court correctly concluded that police violated Mr. Nelson's Fourth Amendment rights in conducting a warrantless search of his car.
 - A. Fourth Amendment standing and standard of review.

The Fourth Amendment ensures "the right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures." U.S. Const. IV; *also see* Wis. Const. Art. 1, sec. 11. Warrantless searches are *per se* unreasonable, subject to a few carefully delineated exceptions. *State v. Boggess*, 115 Wis. 2d 443, 449, 340 N.W.2d 516 (1983). Although diminished, owners of motor vehicles have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the passenger compartment of their vehicle. *California v. Carney*, 471 U.S. 386, 390 (1985).

Page 15 of 34

defendant invoking Fourth Amendment A protection, has the burden of establishing a privacy interest in the place or object searched. Rawlings v. *Kentucky*, 448 U.S. 98, 104 (1980). Whether an individual had a reasonable expectation of privacy in an area subjected to a search depends on: (1) whether the individual's conduct exhibited an actual (i.e. subjective) expectation of privacy in the area searched and the item seized; and (2) if the requisite expectation of privacy is met, whether such an expectation of privacy was legitimate or justifiable (i.e., one that society is willing to recognize as reasonable). State v. Bruski, 2007 WI 25, ¶23, 299 Wis. 2d 177, 727 N.W.2d 503 (citing Smith v. Maryland, 442 U.S. 735 (1979)); Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 361 (1967) (Harlan, J. concurring).

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has identified several factors applicable to the determination of whether society recognizes a person's expectation of privacy as reasonable:

- (1) whether one has a property interest in the premises;
- (2) whether one is legitimately on the premises;
- (3) whether one has complete dominion and control and the right to exclude others;
- (4) whether one took precautions customarily taken by those seeking privacy;
- (5) whether the property was put to some private use; and

Filed 08-26-2024

(6) whether the claim of privacy is consistent with historical notions of privacy.

See State v. Dixon, 177 Wis. 2d 461, 469, 501 N.W.2d 442 (1993); State v. Trecroci, 2001 WI App 126, ¶36, 246 Wis. 2d 261, 630 N.W.2d 555.

This list of factors is not controlling or exclusive; instead, the totality of the circumstances is the controlling standard. *Id*.

of Appellate review а circuit court's determination of a motion to suppress under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution presents a question of constitutional facts. State v. Moeser, 2022 WI 76, ¶13, 405 Wis. 2d 1, 982 N.W.2d 45. Under this two-step standard of review, a reviewing court will uphold a circuit court's findings of historic facts unless they are clearly erroneous. Id. This Court independently applies constitutional principles to those facts. Id.

B. Mr. Nelson had a legitimate expectation of privacy in his vehicle because he did not abandon it.

A defendant who challenges a search or seizure under the Fourth Amendment has the burden of establishing a reasonable expectation of privacy by a preponderance of the evidence. *State v. Whitrock*, 161 Wis. 2d 960, 972, 468 N.W.2d 696 (1991) (citing *Rawlings*, 448 U.S. at 104). Fourth Amendment protection does not extend to abandoned property, however; when a property owner abandons his

property, he forfeits his possessory interest and right to object to its search or seizure. *Abel v. United States*, 362 U.S. 217, 241 (1960).

1. Mr. Nelson had an expectation of privacy that was legitimate and justifiable.

The totality of the evidence demonstrates that Mr. Nelson did not intend to abandon his car, and therefore had a legitimate and justifiable reasonable expectation of privacy.

Consistent with the factors in *Dixon*, Mr. Nelson's expectation of privacy of his car was legitimate. Whether property is abandoned is a question of intent, which can be inferred from actions. *See State v. Bauer*, 127 Wis. 2d 401, 406-7, 379 N.W.2d 895 (1985) (no Fourth Amendment violation occurred after police viewed a deceased horse lying in a driveway where the defendant intended to have it removed); *compare with*, *State v. Roberts*, 196 Wis. 2d 445, 456, 538 N.W.2d 825 (1995) (defendant did not have a legitimate expectation of privacy in his car after he fled on foot from police after vehicle pursuit).

Here, police learned through a DOT check that Mr. Nelson was the registered owner of the car. (18:12). And, although the car was unlocked, the car doors were closed, which supports a notion of privacy in shielding contents from onlookers and passerby. (Ex. 1 at 0:10-0:24; Ex. 2 at 2:00-2:22). Further, no keys were found inside, which prevented others from taking control and dominion of the car. (18:19).

In addition, there was no evidence presented that Mr. Nelson denied ownership of the vehicle. Although not explicitly a *Dixon* factor, the denial of ownership is important under the totality of the circumstances. For example, in *United States v. Tolbert*, the court found that the defendant did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in her luggage after she denied its ownership. 692 F.2d 1041, 1044 (6th Cir. 1982), *cert. denied*, 464 U.S. 933 (1983).

Further, there was no testimony that the car was on the side of the road for a significant period of time, and Officer Goritz testified that he did not know how long the car had been there. (18:22).

The State asserts that Mr. Nelson did not establish a reasonable expectation of privacy because (1) his car was illegally parked on the street;⁶ (2) it was unlocked; and (3) he did not have complete dominion and control of the car because he was not near the car. (State's Br. at 6). But these claims are unconvincing.

As an initial matter, the State cites no case to support its claim that parking a car illegally results in an automatic forfeiture of one's reasonable expectation of privacy in the vehicle. Moreover, merely because an

 $^{^{6}}$ The State cites New Berlin City Ordinance § 261-4 in their brief, however, this ordinance was not admitted into evidence at the motion hearing and the circuit court made no finding as to this.

unlocked car is potentially accessible by passersby does not result in abandonment such that the car's owner has no reasonable expectation of privacy in it. *See O'Connor v. Ortega*, 480 U.S. 709, 719 (1987) (access by others to an employee's work area did not negate a reasonable expectation of privacy in that area).

Here, Mr. Nelson was the registered owner of the vehicle, and had not left his keys in the car. (18:19). Simply because others could potentially access the interior of an unlocked car does not diminish the owner's expectation of privacy in it such that it can be considered "abandoned" for Fourth Amendment purposes. If that were the case, leaving one's car unlocked on the street in front of one's house could result in "abandonment" such that police could legally – remove things from the car or perhaps even seize it if the keys were left inside. And, like O'Connor, this Court in *Trecroci* found that, where third parties were allowed to enter a home and utilize a stairway with consent of the renters, "that alone does not negate a reasonable expectation of privacy." Trecroci, 2001 WI App 126, ¶39 (citing O'Connor, 480 U.S. at 721-24).

The State cites several cases in support of its claim that Mr. Nelson lacks standing. (State's Br. at 6-7). However, those cases are distinguishable, as they contain facts that demonstrate clear abandonment that are absent here.

In *State v. Bruski*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that the defendant had no privacy interest in a travel case inside of a car that did not belong to him. *Bruski*, 2007 WI 25, 25, 299 Wis. 2d 177, 727 N.W.2d 503. Here, to the contrary, it is undisputed that Mr. Nelson owned the car.

Similarly, in *State v. Roberts*, this Court held that the defendant did not have a legitimate expectation of privacy in his car after he fled from police on foot after a vehicle pursuit. 196 Wis. 2d 445, 456, 538 N.W.2d 825 (1995). Here, in contrast, there was no evidence that Mr. Nelson fled from his car to avoid arrest.

In United States v. Thomas, the D.C. Circuit ruled that the defendant lost any privacy interest in a bag that he left in front of a door inside an apartment complex while fleeing police. 864 F.2d 843, 846 (D.C. Cir. 1989). And, in United States v. Rem, the Seventh Circuit ruled that the defendant lost any privacy interest in a locked bag that contained drugs which he left behind on a train luggage rack when he fled a train after learning that other individuals had been arrested for drugs on the train. Rem, 984 F.2d 806, 808-812 (7th Cir. 1993). In contrast to Thomas and Rem, however, this case does not involve abandonment of contraband during a police chase or upon arrest of others.

Mr. Nelson was the car's registered owner, there was no evidence that he did not intend to return to the car, the car doors were closed, and no keys were left in it. Under the totality of the circumstances, Mr. Nelson had a reasonable expectation of privacy that was legitimate and justifiable in the contents of his car. As

20

such, he has Fourth Amendment standing to challenge the search.

C. No exceptions to the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement justified the search.

The State asserts that plain view does not need to be established because there are "multiple other warrant requirement exceptions." ⁷ (State's Br. at 9). Instead, they argue (1) the search was justified due to community caretaker activity requiring an inventory search (State's Br. at 12); and (2) inevitable discovery (State's Br. at 18-19). However, none of these exceptions to either the Fourth Amendment or the exclusionary rule are applicable.

> 1. The circuit court correctly found that Officer Goritz did not see contraband in plain view.

Officer Goritz testified that he saw in plain view the vial of suspected cocaine when he approached the right passenger side of the car. (18:22).

Police may search a car if they observe contraband in plain view and the following requirements are met: (1) the officer must have prior justification for being in the position from which the "plain view" discovery was made; (2) the evidence must be in plain view of the discovering officer; (3) the

 $^{^7}$ While the State has forfeited the argument that the search was justified under plain view, (State's Br. at 9), the defense nonetheless addresses it.

Page 22 of 34

discovery of the evidence must be inadvertent; and (4) the item seized, in itself with facts known to the officer at the time of the seizure, provides probable cause to believe there is a connection between the evidence and criminal activity. *Bies v. State*, 76 Wis. 2d 457, 464, 251 N.W.2d 461 (1977) (citing *Coolidge v. New Hampshire*, 403 U.S. 433, 464-473 (1971)).

Officer Goritz claimed at the motion hearing that he saw a vial of suspected cocaine underneath Mr. Nelson's identification card in the cup holder. (18:16; 18:22). However, as the circuit court correctly found (and the State does not challenge here), the vial was not in Officer Goritz's view when he was outside of the car. (Exhibit 2 at 9:45-10; 11:38-45). From observing the body cam footage, the circuit court explicitly found this testimony to be incredible:

> But certainly this, you know, in looking how you observed the vial underneath – underneath the license does not indicate to me that it was readily observable. It was underneath the license. And to be candid with you, it was up against the side wall of the cup holder underneath there, the way I saw you try to pick it up and bring it up the side of the cup holder.

(18:38).

The circuit court affirmed its credibility finding when it denied the state's motion to reconsider.

> But when you use the plain view exception, well you better have a plain view of it. And there was no way he would have had a plain view of it.

(25:13).

On this record, the circuit court's factual finding was not clearly erroneous and is entitled to deference. This Court should affirm and find that the State has not satisfied the "plain view" exception to the warrant requirement.

The State asserts that police searched the car as part of their community caretaking function because the vehicle was impeding traffic, and because Officer Goritz observed rifle rounds in the car and was concerned that an "active shooter" was in the area. (State's Br. at 12-18) The State claims this justified police impoundment of the car and an inventory search of its contents. (*Id.* at 17-18).

The community caretaker exception to the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement allows police to make reasonable intrusions so long as they are separate from "the detection, investigation, or acquisition of evidence relating to the violation of a criminal statute." *Cady v. Dombrowski*, 413 U.S. 433, 441 (1973); *State v. Kramer*, 2009 WI 14, ¶¶19-20, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598. When the community caretaker function is asserted, "the trial court must determine: (1) that a seizure within the meaning of the fourth amendment has occurred; (2) if so, whether the police conduct was bona fide community caretaker

^{2.} Police were not acting as community caretakers when they searched Mr. Nelson's car, nor was this a valid inventory search.

activity; and (3) if so, whether the public need and interest outweigh the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual." *State v. Anderson*, 142 Wis. 2d 162, 169, 417 N.W.2d 411 (Ct. App. 1987).

As to the third factor, "relevant considerations include: (1) the degree of the public interest and the exigency of the situation; (2) the attendant circumstances surrounding the seizure, including time, location, the degree of overt authority and force displayed; (3) whether an automobile is involved; and (4) the availability, feasibility and effectiveness of alternatives to the type of intrusion actually accomplished." *Id.* at 169-70.

The United States Supreme Court recently clarified law enforcement's community caretaking functions in the context of a warrantless search of a home. *Caniglia v. Strom*, 593 U.S. 194 (2021). There, the Court found that police entry into a home to seize firearms was not justified as "community caretaking" simply because the homeowner was undergoing a psychiatric evaluation, where no other exigent circumstances existed (e.g. rendering emergency assistance or protecting an occupant from imminent injury). *Id.* at 198.

In a concurring opinion, Justice Alito expressed concern about the seemingly unlimited potential that police may have to conduct searches and seizures pursuant to a "community caretaking" doctrine. *Id.* at 200 (Alito, J., concurring). He noted that the Court's majority holding found "there is no special Fourth

Filed 08-26-2024

Amendment rule for a broad category of cases involving 'community caretaking." *Id*.

Following the *Caniglia* decision, the Wisconsin Supreme Court very recently considered community caretaking functions of law enforcement in *State v*. *Wiskowski*, 2024 WI 23, 412 Wis. 2d 185, 7 N.W.3d 474. There, it ruled that law enforcement had no reasonable suspicion to conduct a *Terry*⁸ stop of a vehicle in a parking lot after observing the driver asleep, without other indicators of impairment. *Id.*, ¶¶12-14. Furthermore, the Court noted that even if officers were acting as bona fide community caretakers, the stop was unlawfully continued after the community caretaking concern dissipated. *Id.*, ¶¶27-28.

In his concurrence. Justice Hagedorn thoroughly outlined the Court's community caretaking jurisprudence and made several observations in light of Caniglia. Id., ¶30. He stated that the United States Supreme Court "cast at least some doubt about whether the community caretaker doctrine is a standalone category through which police conduct should be analyzed." Id., ¶40 (Hagedorn, J., concurring). He also observed that the United States Supreme Court seemed uncomfortable with the idea that community caretaking is a broad category authorizing warrantless searches and seizures. essentially echoing the sentiments of Justice Alito. Id. ¶73. Ultimately, Justice Hagedorn warned that

⁸ Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968).

Page 26 of 34

Wisconsin courts may "soon need to address whether to formally abandon community caretaking as a separate, freestanding doctrine through which warrantless searches and seizures should be evaluated." *Id.*, $\P74$.

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